Brief of Appellant Filed 05-04-2020

RECEIVED 05-04-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

Page 1 of 18

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT III Case No. 2020AP000233

In re the finding of contempt in: STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LAMONDO D. TURRUBIATES,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Entered in the Dunn County Circuit Court, the Honorable Rod W. Smeltzer Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the circuit court's June 3, 2019, order compelling Mr. Turrubiates to disclose his cell phone passcode to police and imprisoning him as a remedial contempt sanction is erroneous and must be vacated.

The circuit court answered: The court entered the order.

This Court should answer: The order is erroneous and must be vacated.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is requested. The briefs should adequately address the issue presented, and the appeal involves application of established legal principles to the facts of the case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Police interviewed Mr. Turrubiates about an alleged assault, and then arrested him and seized his cell phone. The State subsequently filed a criminal complaint against Mr. Turrubiates. The circuit court ordered a signature bond in January 2019.

On February 13, 2019, the State filed a motion in the circuit court requesting an order compelling

Case 2020AP000233 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-04-2020 Page 6 of 18

Mr. Turrubiates to disclose the passcode to his cell phone. (17; App. 101-104). The State conceded that the order would implicate Mr. Turrubiates' Fifth Amendment rights; however, it relied on foreign case law to argue that compulsion was warranted. (17:1-4; App. 101-104). The State did not apply for, or obtain, a search warrant for the cell phone prior to filing the motion to compel Mr. Turrubiates to disclose the cell phone's passcode.

On May 24, 2019, the circuit court held a hearing. It was a joint preliminary hearing and hearing on the State's motion to compel. Officer Zeroth testified about the alleged victim H.E.'s complaint and his interview of Mr. Turrubiates. (51:5-9; App. 109-113). According to Off. Zeroth. Mr. Turrubiates maintained he was in fact the victim and showed Off. Zeroth a video on his cell phone he indicated supported his side of the story. Off. Zeroth testified that the video showed H.E. unclothed in the back seat of a car, trying to grab the phone. (51:9; App. 113). No sexual contact was depicted. (51:13; App. 117). Off. Zeroth testified that Mr. Turrubiates told him there were other videos on the phone of H.E. acting crazy. H.E. told Off. Zeroth Mr. Turrubiates took videos of her after "incidents" to make her look crazy. (51:15; App. 119). Off. Zeroth did not have an expectation of what those videos would show. (Id.). Off. Zeroth arrested Mr. Turrubiates and seized his cell phone. However, police were unable to get back into the phone because it was passcode protected. (51:9-10; App. 113-114).

After the court granted bindover, it turned its attention to the State's motion to compel. (51:16; App. 120). Mr. Turrubiates opposed the motion. (51:17-19; App. 121-123). The court ruled:

Here is what the Court sees. Based on what the inference could be drawn what's on that phone and nobody is disputing it at least at this time -- or at this point your client has it. The victim certainly hasn't. We've got a lady that's sitting around nude in the middle of winter in a car and there's a sexual assault from the same time frame, I think part of that could be circumstantial evidence that's tied to criminal behavior. So I'm going to order that he turn the password over to the State so that they can access that phone.

(51:20-21; App. 124-25).

The court ordered Mr. Turrubiates to turn over the passcode immediately. After a brief recess, Mr. Turrubiates advised he "will not be providing the password to law enforcement today." The State asked the court to hold Mr. Turrubiates in contempt and asked for a 30-day sanction. The court granted the State's request to hold Mr. Turrubiates in contempt, but instead of a 30-day sanction, ordered: "you're going to remain in the custody of the Dunn County Jail until it's provided." (51:22; App. 126). The State indicated it had sent the phone to Madison so a "forensic team" could attempt to enter the phone. The court also ordered Mr. Turrubiates to pay the cost of that attempt. (*Id.*).

Case 2020AP000233 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-04-2020 Page 8 of 18

On June 3, 2019, the court entered a written order compelling Mr. Turrubiates to turn over his passcode to police, holding him in contempt, and ordering him incarcerated until he complied with the order to compel the passcode. (21; App. 131).

Mr. Turrubiates filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postdisposition relief from the June 3, 2019, order. (23). See Wis. Stat. § 785.03(3). On August 28, 2019, the State finally obtained a search warrant for Mr. Turrubiates' cell phone. (27). A search of the phone has not occurred. On September 20, 2019, the circuit court stayed the order pending appeal. (32). See Wis. Stat. § 808.07(2).

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

While a circuit court's finding of contempt is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion, City of Wis. Dells v. Dells Fireworks, Inc., 197 Wis. 2d 1, 23, 539 N.W.2d 916 (Ct. App. 1995), whether the court had the authority to enter a contempt sanction and followed proper procedures in exercising that authority are questions of law, reviewed de novo. Frisch v. Henrichs, 2007 WI 102, ¶29, 304 Wis. 2d 1, 736 N.W.2d 8; Evans v. Luebke, 2003 WI App 207, ¶16, 267 Wis. 2d 596, 671 N.W.2d 304.

ARGUMENT

I. The June 3, 2019, order compelling Mr. Turrubiates to disclose his cell phone passcode to police and imprisoning him as a remedial contempt sanction is erroneous and must be vacated.

The circuit court's June 3, 2019, order directing Mr. Turrubiates to disclose his cell phone passcode to police and holding him in jail on a remedial contempt sanction is erroneous and must be vacated. There was no warrant to search the phone, and mandatory statutory contempt requirements were not followed.

A circuit court may find a party in contempt of court and order a sanction as a consequence for failure to follow a court order. Contempt is defined by statute and includes "intentional . . . [d]isobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a court." Wis. Stat. § 785.01(1)(b). There are two kinds of contempt sanction: punitive and remedial. Wis. Stat. § 785.01(2), (3). A punitive sanction is imposed for the purpose of punishing a past contempt. A remedial sanction is imposed for the purpose of terminating a continuing contempt. Wis. Stat. §§ 785.01(2), (3). Imprisonment is available as a remedial sanction. Wis. Stat. § 785.04(b). In the

¹ This statute was enacted to abrogate the historical distinction between civil and criminal contempt. The present statute distinguishes on the basis of the sanction sought. Committee Comment to Chapter 785.

correct sequence of events for a lawful remedial contempt sanction,

- A party files a motion for a court order.
- The court hears the motion and if warranted, issues the order.
- The court affords the subject of the order an opportunity to comply.
- If the order is not complied with, the court may hold the subject in contempt.
- If the party aggrieved by the contempt seeks a remedial sanction, the party may file a motion seeking a remedial sanction.
- Finally, the court must hold an evidentiary hearing on the request for a remedial contempt sanction and make factual findings to support a conclusion that the defendant deliberately disobeyed the court.

Wis. Stat. § $785.03(1)(a)^2$; Evans v. Luebke, 267 Wis. 2d 596, ¶¶21-24.

² This provision states: "A person aggrieved by a contempt of court may seek imposition of a remedial sanction for the contempt by filing a motion for that purpose in the proceeding to which the contempt is related. The court, after notice and hearing, may impose a remedial sanction authorized by this chapter."

Case 2020AP000233 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-04-2020 Page 11 of 18

This case was on the wrong track from the outset. First, police failed to apply for a search warrant for Mr. Turrubiates' phone, violating the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement. A warrant is required to search a cell phone, even if the person is under arrest. The search incident to arrest exception does not apply. *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 401, (2014). A person's cell phone carries "a cache of sensitive personal information" amounting to "a digital record of nearly every aspect of their lives," such that a cell phone search "would typically expose to the government far more than the most exhaustive search of a house." *Id.* at 395-96. If police wish to search a cell phone without the owner's consent, they must obtain a warrant.

Instead of identifying this critical omission, the State continued the error by moving the court to impose an unlawful order to compel the cell phone passcode. The State's motion did not offer lawful Fourth Amendment authority to search the phone without Mr. Turrubiates' consent.

In turn, the circuit court granted the unlawful motion to compel. The court concluded that there "could be circumstantial evidence that's tied to criminal behavior. So I'm going to order that he turn the password over to the State so that they can access that phone." (51:20-21; App. 124-25). The court's conclusion that there was potentially relevant

information on the phone does not overcome the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement.³

Not only was the order to compel unlawful, mandatory statutory contempt procedures were disregarded. See, e.g., Evans, 267 Wis. 2d 596, ¶16. (vacating remedial contempt order for failure to follow procedural requirements). Under Wis. Stat. $\S785.03(1)(a)$, a person aggrieved by a contempt of court must file a motion seeking imposition of a remedial sanction. The court then must provide notice and hold an evidentiary hearing on the motion seeking imposition of a remedial sanction. Id.

The State failed to file a motion seeking a remedial sanction. A remedial sanction may not be ordered unless the aggrieved party files a motion requesting one. Wis. Stat. § 785.03(1)(a). The February 13, 2019, motion requested an order to compel Mr. Turrubiates to turn over his passcode. (17; App. 101-104). It did not seek a contempt order, let alone seek imposition of a remedial contempt sanction.

In fact, the State did not request a remedial contempt sanction; it requested a definite 30-day sanction, which is a punitive sanction. (51:22; App. 124). *State ex rel. N.A. v. G.S.*, 156 Wis. 2d 338,

³ In addition, the parties agreed that compelling the cell phone passcode implicated Mr. Turrubiates' Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. There is no Wisconsin case law on this issue, but this Court need not reach it given the clear Fourth Amendment issue.

Case 2020AP000233 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-04-2020 Page 13 of 18

456 N.W.2d 867 (Ct. App. 1990) ("imprisonment for a definite period is permitted only in a punitive sanction proceeding."). When the State seeks a punitive contempt sanction, it must file a complaint. Wis. Stat. § 785.03(1)(b). No punitive contempt complaint was filed here.

The court itself proposed and ordered the remedial sanction, but a court cannot order a remedial sanction unless an aggrieved party requests one. "[F]or a remedial sanction to be entertained, there must be a motion to the court by an 'aggrieved person.' This contemplates someone other than the trial court." *B.L.P. v. Circuit Court for Racine County*, 118 Wis. 2d 33, 44, 345 N.W.2d 510 (Ct. App. 1984).

Nor was the statutory hearing requirement followed. See Wis. Stat. § 785.03(1)(a). Although the court took evidence at the May 24, 2019, hearing, this was in the context of a preliminary hearing and the State's motion to compel the passcode. Evidence at a preliminary hearing is solely for the purpose of determining whether probable cause exists to believe the defendant committed a felony. Wis. Stat. § 970.03. And evidence that is relevant to an order to compel production of information is different from evidence necessary to support a remedial contempt order. The former involves an inquiry into whether the order should be granted, whereas the latter involves an inquiry into whether the order has been deliberately disobeyed. It was only after evidence was adduced for other purposes that the State asked the court to hold Mr. Turrubiates in contempt and to

Case 2020AP000233 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-04-2020 Page 14 of 18

imprison him. This did not comply with the Wis. Stat. § 785.03(1)(a) requirement that the court hold a hearing on a request for a remedial sanction.

Finally, the court did not apply the substantive contempt standard or make factual findings to support it. *See* Wis. Stat. § 785.01(1)(b).

In sum, what should have been a careful multistep process was collapsed into a single inadequate proceeding. The resulting errors render the June 3, 2019, order invalid. This Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Mr. Turrubiates respectfully asks the Court to reverse and remand with directions to vacate the June 3, 2019, order.