Filed 06-04-2020

Page 1 of 16

RECEIVED 06-04-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP000233

*In re the finding of contempt in:* STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LAMONDO D. TURRUBIATES,

Defendant-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER ENTERED IN DUNN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ROD W. SMELTZER, PRESIDING

### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

MEGAN E. KELLY Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1101227

Dunn County District Attorney's Office 615 Stokke Parkway, Suite 1700 Menomonie, Wisconsin 54751 (715) 232-1687 megan.kelly@da.wi.gov

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the circuit court's order compelling Lamondo Turrbiates to disclose his cell phone passcode to law enforcement violate his rights under the Fourth Amendment?

The circuit court answered "no" by issuing the Order.

Was the circuit court's order finding Lamondo Turrubiates in contempt proper when he refused to comply with the court's order, and were correct contempt procedures followed?

The circuit court answered "yes" by issuing the Order.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The parties' briefs will adequately address the issue presented, and oral argument will not significantly assist the court in deciding this appeal. The State does not request publication of this Court's decision and opinion.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As plaintiff-respondent, the State exercises its discretion to not present a full statement of the case. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2. The State cites to relevant facts in the Argument section below.

#### ARGUMENT

Mr. Turrubiates argues that the order to compel Turrubiates to provides his cell phone pass code to law enforcement was unlawful due to the lack of Fourth Amendment authority supporting the State's motion. The State addresses that issue separate from the contempt issue to provide more clarity. Further, he argues that the contempt sanction was erroneous and that proper contempt procedures were not followed. As discussed below, the order to compel was properly granted, and the circuit court followed correct procedures in holding Turrubiates in contempt and issuing a sanction. The State addresses each issue in turn below.

## I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER TO COMPEL TURRUBIATES TO PROVIDE HIS PASSCODE DID NOT VIOLATE HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE FREE FROM UNREASONABLE SEARCHES BECAUSE THE ORDER DID NOT AUTHORIZE A SEARCH AND NO SEARCH RESULTED FROM THE ORDER TO COMPEL.

Turrubiates first argues that the June 3, 2019 order to compel Turrubiates to turn over his passcode to law enforcement is unlawful because it was granted prior to a search warrant authorizing law enforcement to access the phone was signed. Turrubiates is correct that a search warrant was not authorized prior to the motion to compel; however, the motion to compel only ordered Turrubiates to provide his passcode. The motion to compel did not authorize a search of the cell phone. Therefore, the motion to compel is lawful.

Citizens are protected from unreasonable searches under both the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution. <u>State v. Smiter</u>, 2011 WI App 15, ¶ 10, 331 Wis. 2d 431, 793 N.W.2d (Ct. App. 2010). A search that occurs without a warrant is per se unreasonable unless an exception to the warrant requirement applies. <u>Smiter</u>, 331 Wis. 3d 431, ¶ 10. Thus, the protections are in place for situations where searches are at issue; however, no search has been conducted in this case.

Turrubiates argues that the order to compel violated his rights under the Fourth Amendment. However, Turrubiates' objection to the motion to compel at the May 24, 2019 hearing was based on Fifth Amendment grounds. (R. 51, 17:10-25—20:1-3.)

Turrubiates correctly states that a warrant was not obtained prior to the State's motion to compel. (Turrubiates' Brief, 4.) However, the motion requested the Court to "compel Turrubiates to provide his passcode to law enforcement." (R.17:3.) Moreover, the order to compel signed by the circuit court only indicated "the defendant shall provide his cell phone passcode to law enforcement." (R.21:1.) Thus, the State was not requesting authority to search the cell phone, and the court was not authorizing law enforcement to search the cell phone.

Further, as Turrubiates' Brief points out, "[a] search of the phone has not occurred." (Turrubiates' Brief, 4.) Turrubiates does not cite any authority to support his contention that his Fourth Amendment rights are violated by the order to compel. Therefore, the order to compel did not violate Turrubiates' rights under the Fourth Amendment as an unlawful search did not occur.<sup>1</sup>

### II. THE PROPER PROCEDURES WERE FOLLOWED WHEN THE CIRCUIT COURT HELD TURRUBIATES IN CONTEMPT AND IMPOSED A REMEDIAL SANCTION.

Turrubiates next argues that the incorrect procedure was followed when the circuit court held Turrubiates in contempt. As discussed below, the proper procedures were followed and the circuit court's contempt finding was not clearly erroneous.

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This Court is presented with a question of law in determining whether a Circuit Court followed proper procedures when it imposed contempt sanctions; therefore, this issue is subject to a de novo review. Evans v. Luebke,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Turrubiates states in a footnote that this issue also invokes issues under the Fifth Amendment, but that "this Court need not reach it given the clear Fourth Amendment issue." (Turrubiates' Brief, 8.) The State does not provide argument on this issue as this Court "may decline to review issues inadequately briefed." <u>State v. Petit</u>, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (internal citation omitted).

2003 WI App 207, ¶ 16, 267 Wis. 2d 596, 671 N.W.2d 304. Also, this Court reviews a Circuit Court's contempt finding and determination of remedial sanctions to determine whether the Circuit Court "properly exercised its discretion." <u>Benn v.</u> <u>Benn</u>, 230 Wis. 2d 301, 308, 602 N.W.2d 65 (Ct. App. 1999) (internal citation omitted).

### B. CONTEMPT OF COURT PROCEDURES ARE SET FORTH BY STATUTES AND FURTHER EXPLAINED BY CASE LAW.

"Contempt of court" is defined as "intentional":

(a) Misconduct in the presence of the court which interferes with a court proceeding or with the administration of justice, or which impairs the respect due the court;

(b) Disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a court;

(bm) Violation of any provision of s. 767.117(1);

(br) Violation of an order under s. 813.1285(4)(b)2.;

(c) Refusal as a witness to appear, be sworn or answer a question; or

(d) Refusal to produce a record, document or other object.

Wis. Stat. § 785.01(1). A court may impose a sanction for contempt of court. Wis. Stat. § 785.02. Contempt sanctions fall into two categories: punitive sanctions and remedial sanctions. Wis. Stat. § 785.01(2), (3). In the instant case, it appears both parties agree that the contempt sanction at issue is a remedial sanction.

A remedial sanction is "a sanction imposed for the purpose of terminating a continuing contempt of court." Wis. Stat. § 785.01(3). Wis. Stat. § 785.03(1)(a) sets forth the "nonsummary procedure" that is used when imposing a remedial sanction: "A person aggrieved by a contempt of court may seek imposition of a remedial sanction for the contempt by filing a motion for that purpose in the proceeding to which the contempt is related. The court, after notice and hearing, may impose a remedial sanction authorized by this chapter." This Court addressed the requirement of a motion filed by an aggrieved person in Evans v. Luebke, 2003 WI App 207, ¶ 23, 267 Wis. 2d 596, 671 N.W.2d 304. In Evans, an aggrieved party filed a motion alleging violations of a court order and included the requested relief. Evans, 267 Wis. 2d 596, ¶ 23. This Court stated, "Although not captioned as motions under WIS. STAT. § 785.03(1)(a), they contain the essentials of a motion seeking remedial sanctions for disobedience of a court order under that paragraph." Id.

Once the motion is filed, a hearing on the record must be held "for due process purposes" to address whether the evidence supports a finding of contempt. <u>Id.</u>, ¶ 24 (internal citation omitted). At the hearing, the parties must either stipulate to the facts or an evidentiary hearing must be conducted to provide the circuit court with sufficient information to make factual findings regarding contempt. <u>Id.</u>, ¶¶ 24-25.

If the circuit court makes a finding of contempt, the circuit court then decides which sanction to impose. One remedial sanction that a circuit court may impose following the nonsummary procedure is "Imprisonment if the contempt of court is of a type included in s. 785.01(1)(b), (bm), (c) or (d). The imprisonment may extend only so long as the person is committing the contempt of court or 6 months, whichever is the shorter period." Wis. Stat. § 785.04(1)(b).

#### C. THE CIRCUIT COURT FOLLOWED PROPER CONTEMPT PROCEDURES.

In the instant case, the State filed a motion to compel Turrubiates to provide his cell phone passcode to law enforcement. (R. 17.) Although the motion was not captioned as a motion for contempt, the motion outlines the following: (1) that Turrubiates refused to provide his passcode to law enforcement, (2) that the State was requesting the circuit court to order Turrubiates to turn over his passcode to law enforcement, and (3) that the State was requesting a motion hearing on the issue. (R. 17.) Thus, under <u>Evans</u>, the motion to compel was sufficient to satisfy the filing requirement under Wis. Stat. § 785.03.

Next, the Circuit Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the State's motion to compel. (R. 51.) Turrubiates argues that combining the preliminary hearing with the motion to compel was not proper because "evidence at a preliminary hearing is solely for the purpose of determining whether probable cause exists to believe the defendant committed a felony." (Turrubiates' Brief, 9); citing Wis. Stat. § 970.03. However, at the combined preliminary hearing and motion to compel hearing, the State and Turrubiates agreed that both issues were before the Circuit Court and that the hearings should be combined. (R. 51, 3:9-15.)

Moreover, Turrubiates' consent to combining the hearings waives this issue. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated "issues that are not preserved are deemed waived." <u>State v. Huebner</u>, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 11, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 (internal citations omitted.) As such, Turrubiates' argument about the combined hearings should not be considered. <u>See Huebner</u>, 235 Wis. 2d 486, ¶ 11.

Additionally, both parties questioned Officer DeMarcus Zeroth and were given the opportunity to argue both the preliminary hearing and the motion to compel. (R. 51, 4-17.) Moreover, the Circuit Court made findings specifically related to the preliminary hearing before hearing arguments on the motion to compel. (R. 51, 16:18-25, 17:1-3.) Once the Circuit Court heard arguments on the motion to compel, the Court ordered Turrubiates to provide his passcode to law enforcement. (R. 51, 20:12-25, 21:1.) The Court then gave Turrubiates time to confer with his attorney, and following that brief recess, Turrubiates, through his attorney, indicated he would not provide his passcode to law enforcement at that time. (R. 51, 21:7-16.)

Following this exchange, the State requested that Turrubiates be held in contempt and placed on a 30 day sanction. (R. 51, 21:18-25.) The Circuit Court then stated, "I ordered Mr. Turrubiates to provide that password. You haven't done so so you're in contempt for failing to provide it so you're going to remain in the custody of the Dunn County Jail until it's provided." (R. 51, 22:5-9.) Turrubiates refusal to comply with the circuit court's order constituted contempt of court, and thus the circuit court properly held Turrubiates in contempt. See Wis. Stat. § 785.01(1)(b).

Regarding the sanction imposed by the circuit court, the circuit court properly imposed a jail sanction and provided a purge condition by allowing Turrubiates' release from custody if he were to provide the passcode.<sup>2</sup> Turrubiates argues that the sanction was improper because it was based upon the State's request for a 30 day sanction. However, it is ultimately up to the circuit court to decide on a sanction, and thus, it is the circuit court's order that is subject to review.

For the reasons set forth above, the circuit court followed the proper contempt procedures. Although some steps were dealt with at the same hearing, this does not render the proceedings invalid. Furthermore, the circuit court did not erroneously exercise its authority when it held Turrubiates in contempt because Turrubiates' refusal to comply with the court order violated the contempt statutes.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  It should be noted that the circuit court stayed the sanction pending appeal in an order dated September 30, 2019. (R. 32.) This is also mentioned in Turrubiates' brief. (Turrubiates' Brief, 4.) Also, it was noted at the May 24, 2019 that Turrubiates was "on a PO hold until mid-June." (R. 51, 21:19-20.)

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests this Court affirm the circuit court's orders regarding the motion to compel and contempt finding.